

W&M ScholarWorks

Undergraduate Honors Theses

Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects

5-2023

Sleep and Early Childhood Stressors in College Students: Examining Alcohol Use as a Moderator

Sylvain N. Chassagneux *William & Mary*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/honorstheses

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons, and the Health Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Chassagneux, Sylvain N., "Sleep and Early Childhood Stressors in College Students: Examining Alcohol Use as a Moderator" (2023). *Undergraduate Honors Theses.* William & Mary. Paper 1917. https://scholarworks.wm.edu/honorstheses/1917

This Honors Thesis -- Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects at W&M ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Undergraduate Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of W&M ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@wm.edu.

Sleep and Early Childhood Stressors in College Students: Examining Alcohol Use as a Moderator

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Arts / Science in Department from William & Mary

by

Sylvain N. Chassagneux

Honors Accepted for (Honors) Dr. Meghan Quinn, Director 5 Dr. Adrian Bravo

Dr. Deborah Lee-Ferrand

Williamsburg, VA May 5, 2023

Sleep and Early Childhood Stressors in College Students: Examining Alcohol Use as a Moderator

Sylvain N. Chassagneux

Department of Psychological Sciences

William & Mary

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
Acknowledgments	5
Introduction	6
Methods	11
Participants	11
Measures	11
Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ)	11
Alcohol Use Identification Disorder Test (AUDIT)	12
Sleep Quality	12
Actigraphy	12
Wakefulness After Sleep Onset (WASO)	13
Sleep Latency	13
Sleep Duration	13
Daily Diaries	13
Procedure	14
Statistical Analyses	14
Results	15
Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations	15
Moderation Analyses Set 1	15
Moderation Analyses Set 2	15
Sleep and Alcohol Use	16
Sleep and Early Childhood Stressors	16
Discussion	16
Limitations and Future Research	18
Conclusions	20
References	22
Endnotes	31
Annondiy	27
Appendix	32
Table 1	32
Table 2	33
Table 3	34
Table 4	35
Table 5	36
Figure 1	37

Abstract

Early childhood stressors (ECS) consist of certain emotional, physical, or sexual experiences that may have long term consequences including sleep problems. Previous research has also found that alcohol use can negatively affect sleep; however, few studies have investigated alcohol use as a moderator of the relationship between sleep and other variables. In the current study, we examined whether the relationship between a general measure of ECS and sleep in college students may be moderated by alcohol use, a common psychoactive substance among this age group. Additionally, we examined this model with emotional abuse and neglect as a measure of ECS. Seventy-three undergraduate students wore an Actiwatch for approximately one week to measure sleep quality (i.e., sleep latency and wake after sleep onset). Throughout this time, participants also completed daily diaries to assess sleep duration. Participants also responded to the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) and the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT). In contrast to our predictions, alcohol use did not moderate the relationship between general ECS and sleep, or the relationship between the combined emotional abuse and neglect scales and sleep. Future research on the moderating effect of alcohol use within the relationship between ECS and sleep should be done with a larger and more diverse sample. Additionally, future research should consider measuring use of alcohol as a coping strategy for ECS, and sleep outcomes that may be associated with this specific form of alcohol use.

Keywords: early childhood stressors, sleep, sleep quality, sleep duration, alcohol use

Acknowledgements

To begin, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Meghan Quinn, for cultivating, expanding, and guiding my curiosity and passion for the subject matter throughout this past year. Aside from her contributions to my thesis, I thank Dr. Quinn for being a role model and for showing me how valuable research is conducted. I would also like to thank Dr. Adrian Bravo and Dr. Deborah Lee-Ferrand for serving on my committee and for supplying insightful feedback. Lastly, I would like to thank my family and friends, in particular Moitreyi Banerjee, Ayman Belafia, Kevin Clancey, and Shelby Hatchel, for their continuous encouragement, reassurance and interest throughout this extensive process.

Sleep and Early Childhood Stressors in College Students: Examining Alcohol Use as a Moderator

Early childhood stressors (ECS) expose individuals to an increased risk for behavioral problems beginning in childhood and continuing throughout their lifespan (Birn et al., 2017). ECS are characterized by the presence of various emotional, physical, or sexual experiences that may interfere with an individual's ability to think, act, and feel (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). While literature on ECS tends to emphasize adverse experiences such as abuse or neglect, it's important to note that some childhood stressors may be associated with other social factors such as poverty, socio-economic status, and race. These stressors may potentially lead individuals to learn maladaptive coping strategies, such as drinking or smoking, that may further inhibit their ability to face ordinary situations (Tavolacci et al., 2013). High prevalence rates of ECS, which can also be referred to as child maltreatment or early life stress, have been reported globally (Stoltenborgh et al., 2015). More precisely, about 1 in 7 children living in the United States report having experienced some form of abuse or neglect in the past year (Center for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2022). Due to the high likelihood of experiencing ECS, it is important to continue studying the various psychological and physiological effects they may elicit in an individual's adult years.

Research investigating the effects of ECS have found that exposure to these adversities is associated with an increased likelihood of experiencing anxiety in adulthood (Norman et al., 2012). Additionally, ECS increases the potential for other problems, such as depression and substance use disorders (Norman et al., 2012). Research conducted by Johnson et al. reported that individuals who were exposed to childhood abuse or neglect were more likely to have personality disorders than those unabused (1999). In considering specific forms of ECS, research has pointed to childhood emotional abuse as posing a greater risk for anxiety and other disorders compared to childhood physical abuse (Norman et al., 2012). Similarly, research has equally pointed to childhood emotional neglect as posing a greater risk for depressive disorders and comorbid anxiety compared to physical neglect (Hovens et al., 2012). In contrast to these findings, additional research has demonstrated that growing up in a stressful environment may actually prepare individuals to better cope with challenges and stressful environments in adulthood (Santarelli et al., 2017). Despite this, however, a wealth of research has supported the idea that early childhood stressors, and in particular emotional abuse or neglect, may increase an individual's vulnerability to future stress and psychological disorders.

One way that ECS may promote vulnerability to later disorders is through sleep. Disturbances in sleep are considered harmful as they may lead to negative long-term effects on health, human errors, and accidents (Kalmbach et al., 2019). Research shows that individuals experiencing sleep problems have had significant changes in their individual health, mood, and academic performance (Yang et al., 2003). Additionally, sleep disturbances are associated with deficits in social relationships, risk-taking behavior, and attention (Gaultney, 2010). Research conducted by Lund et al., aimed to study sleep patterns and explanations of poor sleep among college students (2010). Results revealed that over 60% of students were considered as poor sleepers and that stress and anxiety accounted for 24% of the variance (Lund et al., 2010).

Sleep problems can be viewed in various ways, such as through duration and quality. With regards to duration, good sleep is often considered as lasting around 7 hours or more, and sleep lasting less than such is termed as short sleep (Sheehan et al., 2019). Research has linked short sleep to numerous adverse health outcomes such as heart disease, diabetes, and mortality (Ayas et al., 2003; Cappuccio et al., 2010; Gallicchio & Kalesan, 2009). While sleep duration is defined as the amount of sleep an individual gets at night, sleep quality can be looked at in multiple ways (St-Onge et al., 2016). For example, sleep quality can be considered in terms of the amount of rapid eye movement (REM) or slow wave sleep (SWS) an individual gets at night (St-Onge et al., 2016). Additionally, sleep quality can be examined through measures such as sleep latency, the amount of time it takes to fall asleep, and wakefulness after sleep onset (WASO), the number of periods of wakefulness experienced throughout the time spent asleep. Similar to the effects of less sleep, poor sleep quality has been linked to a decrease in academic performance and greater risk for various mental health disorders (Howell et al., 2004).

Interestingly, research indicates that exposure to stress and maltreatment during the childhood years may have long-lasting effects on subjective sleep (Pfaff & Schlarb, 2022). Specifically, individuals reporting experiences with all three types of childhood abuse, those being emotional, physical, and sexual, experience various sleep problems (Greenfield et al., 2011). A study conducted by Schäfer & Bader (2013), investigated 48 adult psychiatric outpatients to assess whether early life stressors were linked to actigraphic and subjective measures of sleep. Participants wore actigraphy wristbands and responded to daily diaries over the length of 7 days. Results concluded that high stress load in childhood was linked to shortened sleep, prolonged sleep onset latency, decreased sleep efficiency, and an increase in body movements while asleep (Schäfer & Bader, 2013). Schäfer & Bader's research is among the few studies investigating the relationship between early life stressors and sleep in adults, indicating the need for further research on the subject.

Additionally, research is required to study factors that may influence the relation between ECS and sleep. While research has yet to support the idea that ECS may specifically elicit the

use of alcohol to cope, studies have supported the self-medication hypothesis of alcohol which suggests individuals consume alcohol with the intention to relieve emotional stress and dysphoria (Miranda et al., 2002). Cross-sectional analyses have additionally depicted the decreased levels of nervousness that may result from the use of alcohol (Swendsen et al., 2000). While the use of alcohol in individuals with social anxiety disorder has been reported as a means to reduce anxiety, there remains little support suggesting that alcohol indeed reduces social anxiety and stress (Carrigan & Randall, 2003). In a particular study conducted by Luciano et al. (2022), self-medicating drinking behavior mediated the relationship between PTSD and alcohol abuse. Thus, alcohol use may be a behavior that individuals engage in as a way to regulate emotions or to cope with stress.

Numerous studies within the United States have been done to investigate drinking behaviors and incentives among college students. A prominent result of these studies is the increased prevalence of drinking alcohol and alcohol use disorders seen among those in college compared to noncollege individuals (Karam et al., 2007). Research conducted through a national survey revealed that around 53% of full-time college students between the ages of 18 and 22 drank alcohol in the past month, and that the rate of binge drinking during that period was around 33% (National Institute of Health [NIH], 2022). The survey defined binge drinking as the consumption of 4 or more drinks for females and 5 or more drinks for men; however, it should be noted that some students consume twice that amount, which is considered high-intensity drinking (Hingson et al., 2017). Factors leading to the use of alcohol among college students is varied, but may include peer pressure, gender and sexual identity, and emotional and psychological instability (Karem et al., 2007). Additionally, Park et al. (2004) demonstrated that students drank more alcohol and engaged in less problem-focused coping on days perceived as more stressful. Based on this body of research, we can conclude that college students drink for a variety of reasons, with coping as one of those reasons.

Furthermore, alcohol use is linked to sleep disturbances. More precisely, when the use of alcohol by an individual is enough to meet the criteria for an alcohol use disorder, the initial engagement with sleep becomes increasingly difficult (Brooks et al., 2019). As alcohol remains one of the most widely used psychoactive substances, research on its effects on sleep and sleep disorders, such as insomnia, have become increasingly pertinent (He et al., 2019). Be that as it may, research on the relationship between alcohol use and sleep tends to focus on alcohol consumption as it becomes abusive or disorderly, rather than its casual use.

While research alludes to how early childhood stressors may lead to sleep problems, this may not be the case for everyone. As such, the present study seeks to learn more about the individuals whose sleep worsens in response to these childhood stressors. Because research has identified alcohol use as a potential influence on both sleep quality and duration (Kenney et al., 2014), the present study examined whether this alcohol use may moderate the relationship between ECS and sleep (see Figure 1). Adults who experienced childhood stressors may choose to use alcohol (Duffy et al., 2018), which may inadvertently affect the quality and duration of their sleep more, compared to those who abstain from alcohol. Thus, I hypothesize that if the level of alcohol use is high among individuals who experienced high levels of ECS, then individuals will experience worse sleep. Additionally, given previous research linking emotional abuse and neglect to sleep problems, we expect that if the use of alcohol is high in individuals with higher levels of emotional abuse and neglect, then the quality and duration of sleep experienced should be lower. Results of the present study may be used to inform future research that considers treatment options and plans for those suffering from ECS and poor sleep.

Method

Participants

The present sample consisted of 73 undergraduate students at William & Mary, a subset from a larger study consisting of 106 participants. Participants were included in the present study if they received Actiwatches as part of their participation in the larger study. Participants were compensated with course credit for their courses within the department of psychological sciences. Participants were between the ages of 18 and 22 (M = 18.92, SD = 1.26), and the overall sample was 54.79% female, 42.47% male, and 2.74% nonbinary. Additionally, 47.95% identified as White or Caucasian, 21.92% as Asian or Asian American, 10.96% as Black, African, or African American, 2.73% as Latino or Hispanic, and 16.44% as Multiracial. Three participants were not included in analyses for not responding to either the AUDIT, CTQ, or both. **Measures**

Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ)

The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) was used to measure the frequency of physical, emotional, and sexual abuse, alongside physical and emotional neglect, that may have been experienced prior to the age of 18 (Bernstein et al., 1994). The CTQ scale consists of 28 items that are measured according to a five-point Likert scale and exhibits high test-retest reliability and convergent validity with other measures of ECS (Bernstein et al., 1997; Bernstein et al., 2003).

The questionnaire contains five subscales meant to measure the various forms of childhood adversity, and scores range from 5 to 25. Scores are then categorized for each scale in terms of trauma exposure ranging from: none to low, low to moderate, moderate to severe, and severe to extreme (Liebschutz et al., 2018). The present study used the total summed score as

well as the summed score of the emotional abuse and neglect subscales. This decision was made based on the long-term behavioral consequences seen to arise from emotional abuse and neglect throughout childhood (Spertus et al., 2003).

Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT)

The Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT) was used to measure the frequency of alcohol consumption among college students (Babor et al., 2001). The AUDIT is a 10-item questionnaire, developed as a World Health Organization (WHO) collaborative project, that addresses alcohol consumption, dependance, and consequences (O'Hare & Sherrer, 1999; Saunders et al., 1993). The AUDIT has additionally demonstrated high test-retest reliability (Selin, 2003). Scores for each question on the AUDIT are based on frequency and range from 0 to 4; the maximum score an individual can receive on the questionnaire is 40. Results on the AUDIT provide adequate information regarding the respondents drinking behavior and tendencies and has been used to detect early signs of harmful or hazardous drinking (Bohn et al., 1995). In our sample, the AUDIT demonstrated good reliability ($\alpha = .80$), which is consistent with previous illustrations of acceptable reliability (Babor et al., 2001).

Sleep Quality

Actigraphy. The present study measured sleep quality using sleep monitoring Actiwatches. Actiwatches were used for their ability to identify and analyze sleep patterns, such as wakefulness after sleep onset (WASO; Valerie et al., 2023). Participants wore a Phillips Respironics Actiwatch 2, which weighs 16-grams and measures 43mm x 23mm x 10mm. The device appears and functions as a wristband and can record accelerometry data. Participants received a fully charged Actiwatch 2 at the beginning of the study and were not required to remove the band for charging thanks to its approximate battery life of 22 days. While the Actiwatch 2 can be immersed in water for up to 30 minutes, participants were asked to remove the bands when swimming or showering as a means of protecting the watches.

Wakefulness After Sleep Onset (WASO). Wakefulness after sleep onset was used as a measure of sleep quality as it reports periods of wakefulness occurring throughout the defined sleep period (Shrivastava et al., 2014). WASO is recorded in minutes and provides a close depiction of sleep fragmentation. As WASO represents the amount of time an individual is awake after having fallen asleep, higher levels are typically indicative of poorer sleep quality. The present study took averages across all days with participant data.

Sleep Latency. Sleep latency is one of the most widely used parameters of sleep quality. Sleep latency reports the amount of time passing between the moment the participant gets in bed and turns all lights off and when they fall asleep (Shrivastava et al., 2014). Sleep latency is recorded in minutes and provides a good image of whether participants had little or significant difficulty falling asleep. The present study measured sleep latency by taking averages from all days with participant data. Similar to WASO, higher levels are indicative or poorer sleep quality. *Sleep Duration*

Daily Diaries. Data concerning sleep duration was collected through 7-10 days of daily diaries, and the current study took the last 5 to 7 days' worth of data to represent a typical week. These days were used within the present study to gain an estimated range of time spent asleep. Understanding some participants may estimate their time asleep as being 20 to 30 minutes longer or shorter, sleep duration was calculated by observing the self-reported time between the moment the participant reported trying to sleep and when they woke up (Matthews et al., 2018). As such, it was the number of hours and minutes passing between the periods marked as 'Time tried to sleep' and 'Time woke up' that was recorded. The decision to focus on the range of time

between these two markers was made based off previously conducted research using daily diaries to measure sleep (Becker et al., 2019). While different measures of sleep can yield different assessments, daily diaries were used in conjunction with actigraphy measures because previous studies have shown both to provide a reasonable depiction of overall sleep (Becker et al., 2019; Matthews et al., 2018).¹

Procedure

Informed consent was received prior to the study's commencement. Participants were invited for a first session, where they received an Actiwatch 2 and were informed of the guidelines surrounding its use. The Actiwatch 2 was used to measure sleep quality between their first and second lab sessions and was removed only in situations involving potential damage and immersion in water. Participants additionally completed daily dairies between their first and second lab sessions. Time between lab sessions was 7 to 10 days, with the goal of obtaining one week of sleep data. On the day of their last daily dairy, participants returned their Actiwatch 2. Additionally, participants were contacted two days before their second lab session and were asked to respond to a survey containing the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) and the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT).

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed within IBM SPSS (Version 28), as well as Google Sheets (Alphabet, Inc.). Google sheets allowed for the compilation of survey and actigraphy data and for the identification of correlations across the various scales. SPSS was used to conduct moderation analyses on whether the relationship between ECS and sleep quality and duration was moderated by alcohol use. For each of the two CTQ measures, there were three models, one for each measure of sleep. In each model, CTQ, AUDIT, and the interaction between CTQ and AUDIT were predictors.

Results

Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations

Table 1 displays the correlations between all study variables among college students. Scores on the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT) showed an overwhelming tendency for participants to consume alcohol at a level posing low-risk (M = 3.45, SD = 3.87), according to World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines. Responses on the AUDIT revealed that 76.71% of participants consumed alcohol sometime prior to taking the survey. Additionally, scores on the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) revealed generally low levels of childhood trauma among the participant pool (M = 38.00, SD = 11.82).

Moderation Analyses Set 1

A set of moderation analyses were generated to examine the moderating effect of alcohol use on the relation between early childhood stressors and sleep (see Table 2). Results indicate that alcohol use did not moderate the relation between early childhood stressors and sleep duration, sleep latency, or WASO. Results from the first set of moderation analyses failed to support the moderation model proposed (see Figure 1) for our first hypothesis.

Moderation Analyses Set 2

A second set of moderation analyses were computed to examine the moderating effect of alcohol use on the relation between emotional abuse and neglect specifically and sleep (see Table 3). Results indicate that alcohol use did not moderate the relation between emotional abuse and neglect (combined) and sleep duration, sleep latency, or WASO. Results from the second set of moderation analyses were unsuccessful in supporting our second hypothesis, suggesting that higher levels of alcohol use among college students with higher levels of emotional abuse and neglect did not in fact experience lower sleep quality and duration.

Sleep and Alcohol Use

Additional exploratory simple linear regressions were calculated to observe whether either alcohol use or ECS were individually related to sleep quality and duration (see Tables 4 & 5). Results revealed that alcohol use was not related to sleep duration within the present study and explained .4% of the variance, R^2 =.004, F (1, 73) = .253, p = .617. There was not a statistically significant association between alcohol use and sleep latency, R^2 =.024, F (1, 73) = 1.700, p = .197. Lastly, when considering wake after sleep onset, results revealed that alcohol did not significantly predict the number of wakefulness periods experienced throughout sleep, R^2 =.013, F (1, 73) = .914, p = .342.

Sleep and Early Childhood Stressors

ECS was not significantly related to sleep duration, explaining only 1.2% of the variance, R²=.012, F (1, 73) = .849, p = .360. With regards to sleep latency, ECS showed no statistically significant relation, R²=.003, F (1, 73) = .233, p = .631. Finally, there was no statistically significant relationship between ECS and WASO, R²=.003, F (1, 73) = .178, p = .675.

Discussion

The present study examined the moderating effects of alcohol use on the relationship between a general measure of ECS and sleep. Additionally, we specifically looked at whether alcohol use moderated the relationship between a measure of emotional abuse and neglect and sleep. Contrary to our hypotheses, no significant interactions were observed when predicting either measure of sleep quality (i.e., wake after sleep onset or sleep latency) or a measure of sleep duration. Additional analyses revealed no significant bivariate relations between ECS and sleep or alcohol and sleep.

While surprising and contradictory to prior research, results from the present study may be interpreted in several ways. Lack of statistical significance for the moderating effect of alcohol use may be explained in light of results from Ben Salah et al. (2020), which found moderating effects of tobacco use on the relationship between ECS and depression mediated by sleep. The moderating effects of alcohol may be dependent on frequency of use. Within Salah et al.'s study, effects of tobacco use were measured by comparing participants who were chronic smokers to non-smokers (2020). In contrast, in the present sample, few participants reported alcohol use that was consistent, which may have made it more difficult to discern a moderating effect. Future research should examine the same potential moderating effects of alcohol use on ECS and sleep, but this time focusing on a sample that includes participants with a better range of levels with regards to alcohol use; specifically, one that includes more at the higher end of use than in our sample.

Along with our moderation analyses, we ran simple linear regressions to examine the relationship between ECS and sleep. No statistically significant relationships were identified between the variables. This contrasts with previous research which has shown lower levels of sleep quality and duration in adulthood in individuals with exposure to ECS (Chapman et al., 2011; Koskenvuo et al., 2010). For example, a systematic review composed of 25 retrospective studies conducted by Kajeepeta et al. (2015), identified an association between sleep problems, such as shorter and more fragmented sleep, and exposure to ECS.

While examining the relationship between alcohol use and sleep, we failed to observe a statistically significant relationship. The results came as a surprise as previous research has

supported the association between alcohol use and sleep (Zheng et al., 2021). Specifically, prior research has found that moderate and high use of alcohol are related to a reduction of total night sleep (i.e., shorter duration) when compared to alcohol used in low doses (Ebrahim et al., 2013). In another study, 393 individuals were surveyed and responded to the Korean version of the AUDIT and Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) questionnaires (2015). Results revealed a negative association between scores on the AUDIT and subjective sleep quality and duration (Park et al., 2015).

One potential explanation for the difference in outcomes between the current study and that of Park et al.'s, could be the sample of participants responding to the AUDIT. While the current study had college students respond to the AUDIT, Park et al.'s study consisted of adults out of college. As the AUDIT only measures the frequency and intensity of alcohol use, and people use alcohol for many different reasons, studies using this measure cannot know the reasons for alcohol use in their samples. This is of interest as college students use alcohol for various reasons, such as in response to social settings (Williams & Clark, 1998), peer pressure (Borsari & Carey, 2001), and college-related alcohol beliefs (Bravo et al., 2017). While some of these factors may remain after college, many play a stronger role during the college years (Patrick et al., 2017). This could suggest that the reason for alcohol use impacts the extent to which alcohol may influence sleep. While research has yet to observe the influence of alcohol use motives on sleep, research has found a correlation between sleep problems and alcohol use motives (Nishith et al., 2001). Although the direction of this relation is unknown, it is possible that certain alcohol use motives may influence sleep differently.

Limitations and Future Research

18

Outcomes from the present study may also be explained by the limitations faced. The first, and most notable, limitation of the study was the sample itself. The sample was both small and not as diverse as those utilized in previous studies, which may have made it difficult to observe effects. Participants within the sample lacked variability in their drinking behaviors, as measured by the AUDIT, and exposure to trauma throughout childhood, as measured by the CTQ. In effect, there was less diversity to be seen within the sample making it more difficult to detect statistically significant relationships. Future research should aim to collect data from a more representative sample and perhaps replicate the study in various environments outside of college campuses.

For example, future research may benefit from including participants coming from all sorts of economic backgrounds. With regards to the current sample, household income may serve as an explanation for the lack of variety in CTQ scores. The current study was conducted on a predominantly white college campus with undergraduate students who can afford an advanced education, the average student's annual household income being between \$150,000 and \$200,000. These same opportunities may not be available for those who come from other economic backgrounds, specifically low-income households. Additionally, low-income families have been shown to exhibit greater conflict, hostile tendencies, and overall child abuse (Evans & Kim, 2013; Hampton & Newberger, 1985). As such, having a sample with a high average income may result in less ECS variability in the present study, and reduce the generalizability of the study. As such, better economic representation is needed.

The second limitation faced by the current study was lack of control for current stress. Generally speaking, high levels of stress are linked to sleep problems, such as shorter sleep (Lee et al., 2013). The years spent in college contain a vast and unique amount of stress that may not be existent or as prominent in other environments (Bhujade, 2017). Additionally, research conducted by Valerio et al. demonstrates how sleep quality worsens with increasing levels of stress or alcohol use (2016). As such, there may have been a variety of concurrent stressors influencing participants, and thus potentially impacting their sleep and alcohol use, within the present study. Furthermore, it is worth noting that current stress may have been equally responsible for the way participants perceived previous stressors when responding to the CTQ. By this, participants may have had an increased tendency to attribute stress to what they're currently facing rather than what they faced throughout childhood. In these ways, current stress may have obscured the true relation between ECS and sleep. Future research would do well to control for current stress levels and assess any potential influence current stress may exert over the perception of past stress.

Additionally, while not a limitation, the current study did not measure the likelihood of individuals using alcohol as a means to cope with ECS. Considering the research conducted on the self-medication hypothesis of alcohol, future research should investigate whether alcohol is used by college students to cope, and whether this specific form of alcohol use may be related to sleep. Furthermore, future research should consider other potential maladaptive behaviors, such as marijuana use, employed by individuals with ECS as a way to cope and the potential effects on sleep they may elicit.

Conclusions

Our findings revealed that alcohol use did not moderate the relationship between ECS and sleep. This remained true when analyses included either a general or emotion-specific measure of ECS, as well as measures of sleep quality or duration. Additional analyses revealed no statistically significant relationships between sleep and both ECS and alcohol use, a contrast to previous research. Based on the contrast between these null results and previous research, as well as limitations of the present sample and study, further research is warranted to determine whether alcohol use may moderate the relationship between ECS and sleep.

References

- Alphabet Inc. Released 2023. Google Sheets. Mountain View, CA, USA. https://www.google.com/intl/fr/sheets/about/
- American Psychiatric Association. (2022). *How to help children and teens manage their stress*. <u>https://www.apa.org/topics/children/stress</u>
- Ayas, N. T., White, D. P., Manson, J. E., Stampfer, M. J., Speizer, F. E., Malhotra, A., & Hu, F.
 B. (2003). A prospective study of sleep duration and coronary heart disease in women.
 Archives of Internal Medicine, 163(2), 205-209.
- Babor, T., Higgins-Biddle, J., Saunders, J., & Monteiro, M. (2001). *AUDIT : the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test : guidelines for use in primary care* (2e édition ed.). OMS.
- Becker, S. P., Langberg, J. M., Eadeh, H., Isaacson, P. A., & Bourchtein, E. (2019). Sleep and daytime sleepiness in adolescents with and without ADHD: differences across ratings, daily diary, and actigraphy. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 60(9), 1021-1031. https://10.1111/jcpp.13061
- Ben Salah, A., Nakajima, M., DeAngelis, B. N., & al'Absi, M. (2020). Effects of tobacco addiction on links between early life adversities, sleep disturbance, and depression: A moderated mediation approach. *Preventive Medicine Reports, 20*, 101225. <u>https://10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101225</u>
- Bernstein, D. P., Fink, L., & Handelsman, L.Foote, 1., Lovejoy, M., Wenzelk, K., et al.(1994). Initial reliability and validity of a new retrospective measure of child abuse and neglect. *American Journal of Psychiatry, IS*, , 1132-1136.

- Bernstein, D. P., Ahluvalia, T., Pogge, D., & Handelsman, L. (1997). Validity of the Childhood
 Trauma Questionnaire in an adolescent psychiatric population. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 36(3), 340-348.
- Bernstein, D. P., Stein, J. A., Newcomb, M. D., Walker, E., Pogge, D., Ahluvalia, T., Stokes, J.,
 Handelsman, L., Medrano, M., & Desmond, D. (2003). Development and validation of a
 brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse & Neglect*,
 27(2), 169-190.
- Bhujade, V. (2017). Depression, anxiety and academic stress among college students: A brief review. *Indian Journal of Health and Wellbeing*, 8(7), 748-751. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/1961766346</u>
- Birn, R. M., Roeber, B. J., & Pollak, S. D. (2017). Early childhood stress exposure, reward pathways, and adult decision making. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences -PNAS*, 114(51), 13549-13554. <u>https://10.1073/pnas.1708791114</u>
- Bohn, M. J., Babor, T. F., & Kranzler, H. R. (1995). The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): validation of a screening instrument for use in medical settings. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 56(4), 423-432.
- Borsari, B., & Carey, K. B. (2001). Peer influences on college drinking: A review of the research. *Journal of Substance Abuse, 13*(4), 391-424. <u>https://10.1016/S0899-3289(01)00098-0</u>
- Bravo, A. J., Prince, M. A., & Pearson, M. R. (2017). College-Related Alcohol Beliefs and
 Problematic Alcohol Consumption: Alcohol Protective Behavioral Strategies as a Mediator.
 Substance use & Misuse, 52(8), 1059-1068. <u>https://10.1080/10826084.2016.1271985</u>

- Brooks, A. T., Krumlauf, M., Beck, K. H., Fryer, C. S., Yang, L., Ramchandani, V. A., & Wallen, G. R. (2019). A mixed methods examination of sleep throughout the alcohol recovery process grounded in the social cognitive theory: The role of self-efficacy and craving. *Health Education & Behavior, 46*(1), 126-136. <u>https://10.1177/1090198118757820</u>
- Buboltz, W. C., Brown, F., & Soper, B. (2001). Sleep Habits and Patterns of College Students: A Preliminary Study. *Journal of American College Health*, 50(3), 131-135. https://10.1080/07448480109596017
- Cappuccio, F. P., D'Elia, L., Strazzullo, P., & Miller, M. A. (2010). Quantity and quality of sleep and incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*, 33(2), 414-420.
- Carrigan, M. H., & Randall, C. L. (2003). Self-medication in social phobia: A review of the alcohol literature. *Addictive Behaviors*, 28(2), 269-284. <u>https://10.1016/S0306-4603(01)00235-0</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *Fast Facts: Preventing Child Abuse & Neglect*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/childabuseandneglect/fastfact.html</u>
- Chapman, D. P., Wheaton, A. G., Anda, R. F., Croft, J. B., Edwards, V. J., Liu, Y., Sturgis, S. L., & Perry, G. S. (2011). Adverse childhood experiences and sleep disturbances in adults. *Sleep Medicine*, 12(8), 773-779. <u>https://10.1016/j.sleep.2011.03.013</u>
- Duffy, K. A., McLaughlin, K. A., & Green, P. A. (2018). Early life adversity and health-risk behaviors: proposed psychological and neural mechanisms. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1428(1), 151-169.

- Ebrahim, I. O., Shapiro, C. M., Williams, A. J., & Fenwick, P. B. (2013). Alcohol and Sleep I:
 Effects on Normal Sleep. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, *37*(4), 539-549. <u>https://10.1111/acer.12006</u>
- Evans, G. W., & Kim, P. (2013). Childhood Poverty, Chronic Stress, Self-Regulation, and Coping. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(1), 43-48. <u>https://10.1111/cdep.12013</u>
- Gallicchio, L., & Kalesan, B. (2009). Sleep duration and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *18*(2), 148-158.
- Gaultney, J. F. (2010). The Prevalence of Sleep Disorders in College Students: Impact on Academic Performance. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(2), 91-97. <u>https://10.1080/07448481.2010.483708</u>
- Greenfield, E. A., Lee, C., Friedman, E. L., & Springer, K. W. (2011). Childhood Abuse as a Risk Factor for Sleep Problems in Adulthood: Evidence from a U.S. National Study. *Annals* of Behavioral Medicine, 42(2), 245-256. <u>https://10.1007/s12160-011-9285-x</u>
- Hampton, R. L., & Newberger, E. H. (1985). Child abuse incidence and reporting by hospitals: significance of severity, class, and race. *American Journal of Public Health*, 75(1), 56-60.
- He, S., Hasler, B. P., & Chakravorty, S. (2019). Alcohol and sleep-related problems. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *30*, 117-122. <u>https://10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.03.007</u>
- Hingson, R. W., Zha, W., & White, A. M. (2017). Information for CME Credit—Drinking
 Beyond the Binge Threshold: Predictors, Consequences, and Changes in the U.S. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *52*(6), A3. <u>https://10.1016/j.amepre.2017.04.005</u>
- Hovens, J. G., Giltay, E. J., Wiersma, J. E., Spinhoven, P., Penninx, B. W., & Zitman, F. G.
 (2012). Impact of childhood life events and trauma on the course of depressive and anxiety disorders. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *126*(3), 198-207.

- Howell, A. J., Jahrig, J. C., & Powell, R. A. (2004). Sleep quality, sleep propensity and academic performance. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *99*(2), 525-535.
- Johnson, J. G., Cohen, P., Brown, J., Smailes, E. M., & Bernstein, D. P. (1999). Childhood maltreatment increases risk for personality disorders during early adulthood. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56(7), 600-606.
- Kalmbach, D. A., Cheng, P., Sangha, R., O'Brien, L. M., Swanson, L. M., Palagini, L., Bazan,
 L. F., Roth, T., & Drake, C. L. (2019). Insomnia, short sleep, and snoring in mid-to-late
 pregnancy: disparities related to poverty, race, and obesity. *Nature and Science of Sleep*, , 301-315.
- Karam, E., Kypri, K., & Salamoun, M. (2007). Alcohol use among college students: an international perspective. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 20(3), 213-221.
- Kenney, S. R., Paves, A. P., Grimaldi, E. M., & LaBrie, J. W. (2014). Sleep Quality and Alcohol Risk in College Students: Examining the Moderating Effects of Drinking Motives. *Journal* of American College Health, 62(5), 301-308. <u>https://10.1080/07448481.2014.897953</u>
- Lee, S., Wuertz, C., Rogers, R., & Chen, Y. (2013). Stress and Sleep Disturbances in Female College Students. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 37(6), 851-858. https://10.5993/AJHB.37.6.14
- Liebschutz, J. M., Buchanan-Howland, K., Chen, C. A., Frank, D. A., Richardson, M. A., Heeren, T. C., Cabral, H. J., & Rose-Jacobs, R. (2018). Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) Correlations With Prospective Violence Assessment in a Longitudinal Cohort. *Psychological Assessment, 30*(6), 841-845. <u>https://10.1037/pas0000549</u>
- Luciano, M. T., Acuff, S. F., Olin, C. C., Lewin, R. K., Strickland, J. C., McDevitt-Murphy, M.E., & Murphy, J. G. (2022). Posttraumatic stress disorder, drinking to cope, and harmful

alcohol use: A multivariate meta-analysis of the self-medication hypothesis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology (1965), 131*(5), 447-456. <u>https://10.1037/abn0000764</u>

- Lund, H. G., Reider, B. D., Whiting, A. B., & Prichard, J. R. (2010). Sleep Patterns and Predictors of Disturbed Sleep in a Large Population of College Students. *Journal of Adolescent Health, 46*(2), 124-132. <u>https://10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.06.016</u>
- Matthews, K. A., Patel, S. R., Pantesco, E. J., Buysse, D. J., Kamarck, T. W., Lee, L., & Hall, M. H. (2018). Similarities and differences in estimates of sleep duration by polysomnography, actigraphy, diary, and self-reported habitual sleep in a community sample. *Sleep Health*, *4*(1), 96-103. <u>https://10.1016/j.sleh.2017.10.011</u>
- Miranda, R., Meyerson, L. A., Long, P. J., Marx, B. P., & Simpson, S. M. (2002). Sexual Assault and Alcohol Use: Exploring the Self-Medication Hypothesis. *Violence and Victims*, 17(2), 205-217. <u>https://10.1891/vivi.17.2.205.33650</u>
- National Institute of Health. (2022). College Drinking.

https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/brochures-and-fact-sheets/college-drinking

Norman, R. E., Byambaa, M., De, R., Butchart, A., Scott, J., & Vos, T. (2012). The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Medicine*, *9*(11), e1001349.

https://10.1371/journal.pmed.1001349

O'Hare, T., & Sherrer, M. V. (1999). Validating the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test With College First-Offenders. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 17(1), 113-119. <u>https://10.1016/S0740-5472(98)00063-4</u>

- Park, C. L., Armeli, S., & Tennen, H. (2004). The daily stress and coping process and alcohol use among college students. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 65(1), 126-135. https://10.15288/jsa.2004.65.126
- Patrick, M. E., Evans-Polce, R., Kloska, D. D., Maggs, J. L., & Lanza, S. T. (2017). Age-Related Changes in Associations Between Reasons for Alcohol Use and High-Intensity Drinking Across Young Adulthood. Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 78(4), 558-570. https://10.15288/jsad.2017.78.558
- Pfaff, A., & Schlarb, A. A. (2022). Consequences of child maltreatment: A glimpse at stress and sleep. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *31*(2), e13456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.13456</u>
- Santarelli, S., Zimmermann, C., Kalideris, G., Lesuis, S. L., Arloth, J., Uribe, A., Dournes, C., Balsevich, G., Hartmann, J., Masana, M., Binder, E. B., Spengler, D., & Schmidt, M. V. (2017). An adverse early life environment can enhance stress resilience in adulthood. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 78, 213-221. <u>https://10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.01.021</u>
- Saunders, J. B., Aasland, O. G., Babor, T. F., De La Fuente, J. R., & Grant, M. (1993).
 Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO
 Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol Consumption-II. *Addiction (Abingdon, England), 88*(6), 791-804. <u>https://10.1111/j.1360-</u>
 0443.1993.tb02093.x
- Schäfer, V., & Bader, K. (2013). Relationship Between Early-life Stress Load and Sleep in Psychiatric Outpatients: A Sleep Diary and Actigraphy Study.*Stress and Health, 29*(3), 177-189. <u>https://https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2438</u>

- Selin, K. H. (2003). Test-Retest Reliability of the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test in a General Population Sample. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 27(9), 1428-1435. <u>https://10.1097/01.ALC.0000085633.23230.4A</u>
- Sheehan, C. M., Frochen, S. E., Walsemann, K. M., & Ailshire, J. A. (2019). Are US adults reporting less sleep?: Findings from sleep duration trends in the National Health Interview Survey, 2004–2017. *Sleep, 42*(2)
- Shrivastava, D., Jung, S., Saadat, M., Sirohi, R., & Crewson, K. (2014). How to interpret the results of a sleep study. *Journal of Community Hospital Internal Medicine Perspectives*, 4(5), 24983. <u>https://10.3402/jchimp.v4.24983</u>
- Spertus, I. L., Yehuda, R., Wong, C. M., Halligan, S., & Seremetis, S. V. (2003). Childhood emotional abuse and neglect as predictors of psychological and physical symptoms in women presenting to a primary care practice. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 27*(11), 1247-1258. <u>https://10.1016/j.chiabu.2003.05.001</u>
- Stoltenborgh, M., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M., Alink, L. R. A., & van IJzendoorn, M. H. (2015). The Prevalence of Child Maltreatment across the Globe: Review of a Series of Meta-Analyses. *Child Abuse Review*, 24(1), 37-50. https://10.1002/car.2353
- St-Onge, M., Mikic, A., & Pietrolungo, C. E. (2016). Effects of diet on sleep quality. Advances in Nutrition, 7(5), 938-949.
- Swendsen, J. D., Tennen, H., Carney, M. A., Affleck, G., Willard, A., & Hromi, A. (2000). Mood and Alcohol Consumption. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology (1965), 109*(2), 198-204. <u>https://10.1037/0021-843X.109.2.198</u>
- Tavolacci, M. P., Ladner, J., Grigioni, S., Richard, L., Villet, H., & Dechelotte, P. (2013).Prevalence and association of perceived stress, substance use and behavioral addictions: a

cross-sectional study among university students in France, 2009–2011. *BMC Public Health, 13*(1), 1-8.

- Valerie, B. T., Fiala, M., & Cohen, S.Postal Delivery of Sleep Monitoring Devices: Research Implications. *Clin Nurs Res*, 10547738221146603. <u>https://10.1177/10547738221146603</u>
- Valerio, T. D., Kim, M. J., & Sexton-Radek, K. (2016). Association of Stress, General Health, and Alcohol Use with Poor Sleep Quality among U.S. College Students. *American Journal* of Health Education, 47(1), 17-23. <u>https://10.1080/19325037.2015.1111173</u>
- Williams, A., & Clark, D. (1998). Alcohol consumption in university students: the role of reasons for drinking, coping strategies, expectancies, and personality traits. *Addictive Behaviors*, 23(3), 371-378. <u>https://10.1016/S0306-4603(97)80066-4</u>
- Yang, C., Wu, C., Hsieh, M., Liu, M., & M., & Lu, F. (2003). Coping with sleep disturbances among young adults: a survey of first-year college students in Taiwan. *Behavioral Medicine*, 29(3), 133-138.

Endnotes

¹Data concerning sleep duration were measured using both the daily diaries and Actiwatches. The overall data acquired from each duration measure was similar, and the Pearson Correlation coefficient between both measures is 0.89. Moderation analyses were computed with duration data recorded through the Actiwatches and the pattern of results was the same as the analyses computed with the daily dairy data. In recognizing their similarities, the present study chose to use the sleep duration data from the daily diaries based on previous research and curiosity.

Appendix

Variable	AUDIT	CTQ	Emotional Abuse and	Sleep Duration	Sleep Latency	WASO	М	SD
AUDIT	-		Negleet				3.450	3.873
CTQ	.068	-					38.00	11.823
Emotional Abuse and Neglect	.148	.940**	-				18.85	7.232
Sleep Duration	.060	109	160	-			7.743	1.128
Sleep Latency	.154	058	.051	.066	-		31.768	23.216
WASO	.114	.050	.009	.337**	134	-	34.422	12.750
<i>Note</i> . AUDIT = Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test. CTQ = Childhood Trauma								

Table 1. Bivariate correlations of all observed variables among college students

Questionnaire. WASO = Wake After Sleep Onset. ** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

32

Dependent Variable	Predictor	Unstandardized B	Coefficient Std. Error	Standardized Coefficient Beta	l t	Sig.	95% CI Lower Bound	95% CI Upper Bound
Sleep	CTQ	110	.140	095	785	.435	389	.169
Duration	AUDIT	011	.011	110	926	.358	033	.012
	INT	.024	.035	.082	.679	.500	046	.094
Sleep	CTQ	1.474	2.869	.062	.514	.609	-4.251	7.200
Latency	AUDIT	138	.234	070	589	.558	605	.329
	INT	.888	.721	.149	1.232	.222	550	2.326
WASO	CTQ	-1.573	1.578	121	996	.323	-4.722	1.577
	AUDIT	.050	.129	.046	.385	.702	207	.306
	INT	.422	.396	.129	1.066	.290	369	1.213

Table 2. Interactions Between Alcohol Use and Early Childhood Stressors predicting sleep

Note. INT = interaction between CTQ and AUDIT. The interaction between alcohol use and

early childhood stressors did not statistically influence sleep quality or duration. p > .05.

Depender	nt Predictor	Unstandardized	Coefficient	Std.	t	Sig.	95% CI	95% CI
Variable		В	Std. Error	Coefficient			Lower	Upper
				Beta			Bound	Bound
Sleep Duration	Emotional abuse and neglect	075	.133	069	562	.576	340	.191
	AUDIT	026	.019	166	-1.381	.172	063	.011
	INT	.029	.036	.100	.817	.417	042	.100
Sleep Latency	Emotional abuse and neglect	1.036	2.754	.046	.376	.708	-4.459	6.532
	AUDIT	.078	.388	.025	.202	.841	696	.853
	INT	.831	.738	.140	1.126	.264	642	2.303
WASO	Emotional abuse and neglect	-2.288	1.498	187	-1.528	.131	-5.276	.700
	AUDIT	.016	.211	.009	.077	.939	405	.437
	INT	.508	.401	.156	1.267	.209	292	1.309

Table 3. Interactions Between Alcohol Use and Emotional Abuse & Neglect predicting sleep

Note. INT = interaction between emotional abuse and neglect subscales and AUDIT. The interaction between alcohol and emotional abuse and neglect (combined) did not statistically influence sleep quality or duration. p > .05.

Dependen [*] Variable	t Predictor	Unstandardized B	Coefficient Std. Error	Standardized Coefficient Beta	l t	Sig.	95% CI Lower Bound	95% CI Upper Bound
Sleep Duration	Alcohol use	.017	.035	.060	.503	.617	051	.086
Sleep Latency	Alcohol use	.917	.703	.154	1.304	.197	485	2.319
WASO	Alcohol use	.371	.388	.114	.956	.342	403	1.145

Table 4. Relationship Between Alcohol Use and S	leep
---	------

Note. Alcohol use did not statistically influence sleep quality or duration. p > .05.

Dependent Variable	Predictor	Unstandardized B	Coefficient Std. Error	Standardized Coefficient Beta	l t	Sig.	95% CI Lower Bound	95% CI Upper Bound
Sleep Duration	CTQ	010	.011	109	921	.360	033	.012
Sleep Latency	CTQ	113	.233	058	483	.631	578	.353
WASO	CTQ	.054	.128	.050	.421	.675	202	.310

Table 5. Relationship Between Early Childhood Stressors and Sleep

Note. CTQ = Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. Early childhood stressors did not statistically

influence sleep quality or duration. p > .05.



Figure 1. Conceptual model of the proposed moderation.